
PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
November 2, 2016

AGENDA
SITE VISIT – 3:30 PM – No discussion or action will be taken on site. 
  803 Norfolk Avenue – Site visit will be at 3:30 PM  

336 Daly Avenue (garage)  – Site visit will be at 4:00 PM 
227 Main Street  (Star hotel) – Site visit will be at 4:30 PM 
 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 5:00 PM 
ROLL CALL 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES OF OCTOBER 5, 2016 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS – Items not scheduled on the regular agenda 
STAFF/BOARD COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCLOSURES 
 Memo to the Historic Preservation Board – Relocation of a Significant Garage and Material 

Deconstruction of the Garage 
PL-16-03189 
Planner Grahn 

23 

CONTINUATIONS 
 Legislative—Consideration of an ordinance amending the Land Management Code Section 15, 

Chapters 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, and 2.5  regarding roof pitches and limiting the use of flat roofs to 25% 
of the total roof structure.  
Public hearing and continuation to date uncertain 
 

Planner Grahn 
 

25 

REGULAR AGENDA – Discussion and possible action as outlined below 

 227 Main Street (Star Hotel) – Determination of Significance  
Public hearing and possible action 
 
 
803 Norfolk Avenue – Reconstruction and Material Deconstruction Review – Reconstruction of 
a historic garage structure along Crescent Tram and Material Deconstruction of stacked stone 
retaining walls, historic roof and dormers, chimney, demolition of historic and non-historic 
foundation elements, historic and non-historic porch elements on the front and side porches, 
historic doors,  replacement of historic and non-historic windows;  removal of portions of 
historic walls in order to accommodate a new addition on the northwest corner of the historic 
house.  
Public hearing and possible action 
 
Design Guideline Revisions- Staff recommends that the Historic Preservation Board take public 
comment, discuss and consider the proposed changes to the Design Guidelines for Park City’s 
Historic Districts and Historically Significant Buildings.  Sections include Guidelines for 
Determining Era of Restoration; Guidelines for Relocation, Panelization, and Reconstruction; 
Recommendations for Sustainability in Historic Buildings; and Treatment of Historic Building 
Materials. 
Public hearing and possible recommendation 

PL-16-03330 
Planner Grahn, 
Turpen 
 
PL-15-02923 
Planner Grahn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GI-13-0022 
Planner Turpen, 
Grahn 
 
 
 

27 
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ADJOURN 





PARK CITY MUNICPAL CORPORATION
HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD
MINUTES OF OCTOBER 5, 2016

BOARD MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE:  David White, Lola Beatlebrox, Cheryl 
Hewett, Puggy Holmgren, Douglas Stephens

EX OFFICIO: Bruce Erickson, Anya Grahn, Polly Samuels McLean, Louis 
Rodriquez 

Prior to the meeting, the Historic Preservation Board held a site visit at 416 
Ontario Avenue. 

ROLL CALL
Chair White called the meeting to order at 5:04 p.m. and noted that all Board 
Members were present except Jack Hodgkins, who was excused.

ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

June 1, 2016

Board Member Beatlebrox noted that the HPB had reviewed these minutes at a 
previous meeting and they were tabled for approval because a quorum of 
members who attended that meeting were not present.   However, at that 
meeting she had requested that rubber wall be changed to correctly read rubble 
wall, but she could not see where that change had been made.  She thought it 
was important to have the minutes corrected.   

MOTION:  Board Member Beatlebrox moved to APPROVE the minutes of June 
1, 2016 as amended to change Rubber Wall to Rubble Wall.  Board Member 
Holmgren seconded the motion.

VOTE:  The motion passed.  Board Member Hewett abstained since she was 
absent on June 1st. 

July 20, 2016

Board Member Holmgren referred to page 15, line 9, 5th sentence, and noted that 
Planner Turpen was referred to as he and it should correctly read she.  Board 
Member Turpen referred to page 16, last sentence and suggested that criteria be
changed to criterion, since criteria is singular and criterion refers to multiple.  

MOTION:  Board Member Beatlebrox moved to APPROVE the Minutes of July 
20, 2016 as amended.  Board Member Holmgren seconded the motion.
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VOTE:  The motion passed. Chair White abstained since he was absent on July 
20th.

August 3, 2016

Board Member Beatlebrox referred to page 26, last paragraph, and changed 
hour to correctly read, how our properties evolved.  On page 27, the man door
should be corrected to main door.  

Note:  Board Member Holmgren pointed out that the corrections Ms. Beatlebrox 
mentioned were actually in the minutes of July 20, 2016.

There were no corrections to the August 3rd minutes.

MOTION:  Board Member Holmgren moved to APPROVE the Minutes of August 
3, 2016 as written.  Board Member Stephens seconded the motion.

VOTE:  The motion passed.  Chair White abstained since he was absent on 
August 3rd.   

STAFF/BOARD COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCLOSURES                      

Planner Anya Grahn reported that Cara Jean Means was the artist selected for  
this year’s Historic Preservation Award.  The art piece should be completed by 
the end of November.  The intention is to have the plaques done for the other 
award recipients in December.  When everything is completed, a joint meeting 
with the City Council and the HPB will be scheduled to unveil the painting and 
present the awards.  

Planner Grahn stated that in December the HPB would also choose the next 
Historic Preservation Award for the 2016 calendar year. 

Planner Grahn announced that there would be a crane at the McPolin Barn this 
week.  The project is moving along quickly and the Staff has been reviewing the 
work that is done each week.  The crane will be used to put in the steel members 
and the structural supports through the roof.  The work on the barn was on  
schedule for completion in early November.  

Planner Grahn recalled that that in July the HPB reviewed the LMC changes for 
relocation and reorientation of Historic buildings.  The Staff would be taking those 
changes to the City Council on October 20th.   Director Erickson stated that a key 
element that the City Council asked the Staff to bring forward, was to articulate 
significant public benefits to the relocation of a Landmark building.  He and 
Planner Grahn were currently working on that.  The intent is to make it more 
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rigorous.  The review would most likely go to the City Council as a policy decision 
before a Landmark building could be moved.  Director Erickson pointed out that it 
was for Landmark structures only and would not apply to Significant structures. 

Director Erickson reported that the City Council adopted the Wildland Urban 
Interface Fire Restrictions a few weeks ago.  There were some serious 
disconnects between that ordinance and what they were trying to achieve in the 
Historic Districts. The ordinance has since been rescinded and it will not be 
enforced until he and Planner Grahn can figure out how the Wildland Fire 
Interface Zone affects the Historic District and the materials that can be used on 
buildings.  Director Erickson stated that one of things they were looking at was 
making a determination at the HPB level regarding critical community assets.  
For example, if they had to triage an interface zone, which ones should be saved 
first.  He and Planner Grahn were doing their best to limit the impact and protect 
the houses at the same time. 

Director Erickson clarified that the ordinance was completely rescinded, but it 
would come back in a different form.       

Public Input               
There were no comments.

CONTINUATIONS (Public Hearing and Continue to Date Specified.)                                

Board Member Beatlebrox asked if she was correct in understanding that the flat 
roof issue was also continued.  Planner Grahn replied that the Staff has been 
meeting with the architectural committee and they came to realize that it was a 
bigger issue than they initially thought.  She noted that it would be on the agenda 
in October as a Continuation to be officially continued.    

1. 1302 Norfolk Avenue - Determination of Significance  
(Application PL-16-03181)

Chair White opened the public hearing.  There were no comments.  Chair White 
closed the public hearing.

MOTION:  Board Stephens moved to CONTINUE 1302 Norfolk Avenue – 
Determination of Significance to a date uncertain. Board Member Hewett
seconded the motion.

VOTE:  The motion passed unanimously.

Regular Agenda – Discussion and Possible Action 
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1. 416 Ontario Avenue – Determination of Significance
(Application PL-16-03180)

Planner Grahn stated that she was standing in for the project planner, Hannah 
Turpen.  She noted that Hannah had gotten married and was now Hannah Tyler.

Planner Grahn recalled that Planner Turpen had presented this to the HPB in 
July, and the Board had visited the site that day.  Page 82 of the Staff report 
outlined all of the exterior changes that had occurred to the house since the 
Historic period, and primarily since 1958.  The owner, Brooks Jacobsen, was 
present and would like to address the Board this evening.  Mr. Jacobsen had 
written a narrative that was included in the Staff report, as well as a copy of the 
building permit that was issued for a re-roof that turned out to be much more than 
asphalt shingles.

Planner Grahn summarized the changes that have occurred, which included
adding large dormers to the front and sides of the house; a new metal roof and 
other material changes such as siding and windows; an addition to the northeast; 
the porch on the front of the historic house has been removed; as well as other 
revisions or changes.  

Planner Grahn noted that the criterion to determine whether or not something 
gets designated as Significant was listed on page 85 of the Staff report.  

Planner Grahn noted that the Planner Turpen found that the structure is over 50 
years old since County Records indicate it was built in 1904.  She asked that the 
HPB discuss whether or not it meets the criteria for historic form.  The structure 
had not previously received a grant from the City, it was not listed on any 
previous Historic Sites Inventory or intensive level survey.   Planner Turpen  
found that it complied with Historic context; but only in the sense that the mass 
and scale of the building is fairly small, and that it matches the streetscape and 
not necessarily that is has  retained its original form.  In terms of whether or not it 
is important to local history, Planner Turpen found that it was based on the 
construction and that the tax cards had noted lumber lined walls with no studs, 
which indicates single wall construction, similar to how the rest of Park City was 
built.                             

The applicant, Brooks Jacobsen, stated that he has owned his home at 416 
Ontario since 1989.  He wanted it clear that the Planning Staff had not 
recommended this home for designation of Significance.  He noted that the home 
was documented as part of the 1983 Reconnaissance level survey, and it was 
listed as non-contributory.  Mr. Jacobsen stated that he applied for a historic 
grant on this home in 1990 and his application was denied because the house 
had already been altered beyond historic recognition.  The house was again 
deemed not of historic significant in 2009.  
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Mr. Jacobsen stated that this home was not lived in by any historically significant 
person or family.  It has had many short-term owners.  He has owned it longer 
than anyone else.  

Mr. Jacobsen stated he continued maintenance of the home with the 
understanding that it was not historically significant.  In 1994 he obtained a 
building permit for a roof restructure.  He pointed out that the restructuring was 
quite extensive.  The home was leaking and he needed to stop it by fixing the 
roof.   Mr. Jacobsen remarked that the only thing that is still intact is the layout of 
the front windows and door.  However, they are out of context because the low 
pitched hip roof and porch were missing, and those were removed long before he 
purchased the house. He understood that the home was vacant between 1958 
and 1974. Mr. Jacobson stated that the reveal and material of the fascia and 
soffit are different.  The siding is a 14” cedar lap, which is very different than the 
7-1/2” ship lap that is on historical homes. The rooflines have changed 
dramatically, and the only parts that are visible, less than 25%, are simple 8 and 
12 pitch, which is not uncommon anywhere in Park City.   

Mr. Jacobsen noted that the home is now 1560 square feet.  It was originally 624 
square feet.  The home does not retain scale, context, or any original materials.  
He has owned and maintained his home for almost 30 years.  It is cute and 
charming, but does not receive a historical ribbon year and after.  It was not 
deemed historic in 1983 and again in 2009 because it is not historic.  

Mr. Jacobsen stated that the home is not real visible from many places in town.
He urged the Historic Preservation Board to determine that the home is not 
historically Significant. 

Planner Grahn noted that this home was difficult for the Staff to determine, which 
is why Planner Turpen had forwarded a neutral determination and asked the 
HPB to discuss whether or not it met the criteria for Significance.

Board Member Holmgren thought the house had moved past Significant due to 
the number changes that have occurred over time.  She felt they were grasping 
at straws to keep it as a Significant listing; and certainly a Landmark listing.

Board Member Stephens understood that the Board was being asked to 
determine whether the changes that have been made to this building impacts 
whether or not the structure is still Significant.  

Planner Grahn reminded the Board that their findings for whether or not the 
house is Significant must tie back to the LMC items outlined in the Staff report.  
Board Member Stephens thought Planner Turpen came to the conclusion that 
the structure complies on Items C and D; and she was primarily looking for 

Historic Preservation Board November 2, 2016 Page 7



discussion on Item B.   Planner Grahn agreed; however, if the Board members 
disagreed with Planner Turpen, they could discuss any of the items.                                          

Board Member Stephens stated that he could see parts of the original building 
during the site visit.  The dormer on top could be removed and the original roof 
form could be re-established with little effort.  However, beyond that, the rest of 
the historic material on the building has been removed.  With the new exterior 
siding and the changes to the windows and openings, it could possibly be 
restored, but he believed any attempt to do a restoration at this point would 
mislead the public as to whether or not this was a historic building.

Director Erickson asked Planner Grahn to do a short summary of the site visit 
before they take public input. 

Planner Grahn explained that the site tour was basic and they stayed outside of 
the house.  Standing on the deck they noted the dormer and how interacted with 
the truncated part of the hip roof that instead of being at the roof it was built over 
and constructed above it.  It appears that the dormer had been built in two 
pieces.  They walked around the back to determine which walls were historic, 
how the addition met the historic square/rectangular form, and how much of that 
rectangular form was still present.  They noted window and door openings.  
Planner Grahn stated that she was very strict about the Board holding their 
comments and discussions until this meeting with the public. She emphasized 
that there had been no discussion on-site.

Chair White stated that from the west it was easy to tell where the truncated pitch 
roof originally existed.  However, the dormers and the additions from any of the 
other elevations was not done in a manner to be sympathetic to the original 
historic house.  He agreed with Mr. Stephens that there is very little left of the 
historic structure or materials.  

Chair White opened the public hearing.

Ruth Meintsma referred to Criteria A, B, C and D outlined on page 85 of the Staff 
report.   She noted that Item C said compliance in terms of historic scale, context 
and materials. In response to a comment about the limited context, Ms. 
Meintsma presented a picture of the context of the neighborhood.  She identified 
the historic structures in the area that were identified in pink and they were all 
Significant structures.  The structures identified in orange were Landmark 
structures.  The house at 416 Ontario was shown in blue.  Ms. Meintsma 
believed this was a significant pocket of history.  

Ms. Meintsma referred to Item D regarding importance to local history.  She 
noted that the applicant had stated that no one of significance lived there; 
however, that is not the criteria.  If it was a mining house and miners lived there, 
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that would make it important.  According to the paperwork, she understood that 
the house was built in 1896, which was the high energy of the Mining Era. 

Ms. Meintsma referred to Item B and noted that the question is whether it “retains 
its historical form.”  She indicated that there was an (i), (ii) and (iii) category.  She 
pointed out that the historic grant did not apply, being on the Historic Sites 
Inventory did not apply, and that the house is listed as Significant did not apply.  
However, Item B states, “It retains its historical form as may be demonstrated by 
the three separate (i’s), but not limited to”.  She concentrated on the historical 
form.  Ms. Meintsma pointed out that Board Member Stephens has used this as 
an important criterion many times in his historic work and respect for the 
materials.   She recalled discussions at previous meeting on other buildings that 
came before the Board for a determination of significance, and the comments 
about the amount of material.  Ms. Meintsma pointed out that material was not 
listed anywhere in the criteria because a reconstructed historic house with all 
brand new materials can still be a Significant Site.  She emphasized that material 
is not the issue.  

Ms. Meintsma concentrated her comments on historical form.  She had overlayed 
the historic image with the existing image.  She stated that what was shown in 
blue was still there and that the original form still exists.  She identified the 
portions that represented more than half of the historic house if the additions 
were removed.  She believed the house retains its historical form; and therefore, 
complies with Criteria B.  

Ms. Meintsma presented an aerial view photo of the roof and she believed that 
the historic roof is still there.  Two-thirds of the roof has been imposed upon 
except the corner that was not visible.  She noted that nothing in the information 
indicated where it was the original corner or when it turned if any of the back wall 
was original.  She stated that it is still there.  Ms. Meintsma referred to page 81, 
which mentions remaining historical elements.  She noted that the north wall was 
not included in the remaining historical elements in that listing, and neither was 
the northeast corner.  Ms. Meintsma believed this structure complies with Criteria 
A, B, C and D without question.  

Ms. Meintsma showed an image of the property lines.  She understood that it is 
difficult to rebuild a historic house and make a new house because of the 
restrictive criteria.  However, she believed there was definite advantage to the 
house as it currently stands.  It crosses the front property line.  If that house is 
taken down, it has to be built ten feet from the front property line.  She assumed 
it was a single lot.

Mr. Jacobsen replied that it was a lot and a half.                                             
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Ms. Meintsma believed the side yard setback would still be 3 feet.  She noted 
that the side yard on the north side is over the property line.  A new structure 
would have to be moved in three feet from that property line.  She stated that 
there were serious advantages from taking this house as it is and rebuilding and 
adding to it.  

Ms. Meintsma stated that the structure was not deemed significant in the past, 
but the difference is that now there is stronger and more detailed criteria because 
they are moving forward to a different level.  She did not believe the past should 
be considered for the assessment of whether or not this house is significant.  It is 
being reassessed and the past is not relevant.  Ms. Meintsma commented on the 
owner’s statement that the house is not highly visible.  She noted that the trees 
keep it from being visible, but standing on the parking lot looking up, it is easy to 
see the historic structures that step up.  Some elements are visible and this
house is hidden only by the trees.  She stated that if they allow this house to 
come down it would be a domino effect. They need to pay attention to these 
points and hold on to what they have.  Taking away this structure would diminish 
what they have.  

Lauren Stealer stated that she has lived in Park City for ten years and she has 
never seen this house.  Park City has a lot of historic homes and she did not 
believe it would matter if this one was not determined to be historic. 

Chair White closed the public hearing.

Mr. Jacobsen noted that Ms. Meintsma indicated that the home was built in 1896, 
but he has found nothing in the records to indicate that date. 

Planner Grahn referred to page 77 of the Staff report, and noted that the lot was 
purchased in 1896 and the house was constructed approximately 1904.
  
Mr. Jacobsen referred to the first image Ms. Meintsma presented of the Ontario 
neighborhood.  He noted that Ms. Meintsma had indicated that 405 was historic; 
however, it is right next to Shorty’s stairs, but she showed it coming all the way 
back up to Ontario Avenue.  He stated that a small front house may be historic, 
but the home that is built up to Ontario Avenue is not historic.  He was living 
there when that home was built.  

Mr. Jacobsen noted that the historic image Ms. Meintsma had shown did not 
include the low pitch hip roof or the porch.  He remarked that those were key 
elements that have been gone for almost 50 years.  Regarding the property line 
comments, Mr. Jacobsen stated that his house does not go beyond the property 
lines.  It was surveyed recently and he offered to do another site visit so the HPB 
could see where the property lines are staked.  He was unsure where Ms. 
Meintsma got her information but it was incorrect.  
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Chair White noted that the house was shown going over the property line on the 
north side.  Mr. Jacobsen reiterated that it does not go over the property line.   
The property was still staked and he had the property lines and survey 
information at his home.  

Mr. Jacobsen stated that Ms. Meintsma talked about the northeast corner being 
original, which is the corner that is closest to Shorty and Ella’s house on the back 
corner.  That is not historic at all.  

Ms. Meintsma clarified that she misspoke and she was actually talking about the 
southeast corner.  

Board Member Beatlebrox stated that this was difficult because she was excited 
about the history of the house; however, during the site visit she was 
disappointed.  The house has changed a lot over the years.  It reminded her of 
the house in the 1400 Block of Park Avenue.  It was a cute hippie house but 
there was not much of the original left.  Ms. Beatlebrox hated to lose this house 
because it is nested in an area of historic Park City, but at the same time the 
historic part of this house is pretty far gone.  

Board Member Hewett stated that whether or not the house is over the property 
line did not have any bearing on their decision.  That would be an issue between 
the property owner and the City and it is not relevant at this point.  Ms. Hewett 
did not think they should assume that someone would tear down the house.  

Board Member Beatlebrox pointed out that if the structure is determined to be 
Significant or Landmark it could not be demolished.  If it is not put on the HSI, it 
could be demolished.  The concern is losing the historic fabric when sites are not 
protected by being on the Historic Sites Inventory.  Ms. Beatlebrox stated that the 
fact that this particular structure causes her concern because over the years it 
has not been designated.  

Board Member Stephens believed that Ms. Hewett was trying to say that if it 
were true that the building was built over property lines, the fact that there might 
be some economic benefit to not tearing down the house would not be within the 
purview of the HPB.  It would be financial decision that the owner would make.  
He agreed that it was not part of their decision process.  Their decision should be 
guided by the LMC.  

Board Member Stephens agreed with Ms. Meintsma that the house clearly 
retains its historical form, under Item B.  However, his comments refer to Section 
C (i), “It retains its historical scale”, which is does; “it’s context”, which is does.  
But then it says, “materials in a manner and degree which can be restored to 
historical form, even if it has non-historic additions”.  With the condition of the 
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house and what has been removed, Mr. Stephens was unsure whether there was 
still historical context because all the materials would be new.  He noted that Item 
C (ii) states, “It reflects the historical or architectural character of the site or 
district through design characteristics such as mass”, which it does, “scale, 
composition and materials”.  He pointed out that the materials are not in place on 
this particular home.  Board Member Stephens believed the home fails in Item C 
with regards to the LMC in meeting the criteria for being a significant site.

Board Member Holmgren reiterated her earlier comment that the house was too 
far gone to be listed.

Director Erickson noted that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 
opposed to adding 416 Ontario Avenue to the Historic Sites Inventory were  
found on page 90 of the Staff report.  He suggested that they also add Mr. 
Stephen’s finding regarding Item C, that the materials are not in context.  

Planner Grahn drafted a finding stating that Criteria C was not met as the historic 
materials no longer reflect the historic or architectural character of the site or 
district.   The Board members were comfortable with that language. 

Board Member Stephens stated that as a Board they will always have problems 
on determining significance when it relates to materials in the middle ground. In 
some instance it is obvious that most of the historic material is there and their 
decision is apparent.  In this particular situation their decision is also apparent 
because it is easy to determine that the historic materials are limited; if there is 
anything left at all. He personally did not observe any historic materials on-site.  
Mr. Stephens remarked that if they hone in on the middle ground a little better, it 
would give them the legislative background to be making decisions in the future.  

Board Member Holmgren recalled that the Board had a similar problem with 
another structure; and it is painful to determine that the historic material is gone.

Planner Grahn stated that in addition to materials, in a number of cases it has to 
do with the form not being present.  When there have been significant changes to 
the form and the materials have been lost, the multitude of changes impact their 
decision. 

Board Member Stephens stated that he could see the form very much in place.  If 
the dormers were removed it would be easy to restore the roof back to its original 
situation.  His issue is that so much of the historic fabric of the home has been 
removed and disposed of.  He was concerned that if they tried to restore it, they 
would be misleading the intent of the Historic Inventory.  

Chair White agreed that if they took off all the additions and the dormers, the old 
historic form would be there.  They could also put back the porch roof and the 
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porch.  If the house could be reconstructed, he wanted to know what that would 
do with regard to materials.  Chair White pointed out that houses have been 
taken down and reconstructed and they were still listed as Significant.

Planner Grahn replied that he was correct.  A number of houses are listed as 
Significant on the Historic Sites Inventory because they were reconstructed 
based on physical and photographic evidence that helped piece together what 
those building looked like during the historic period.  

Board Member Beatlebrox recalled that the HPB had recently ruled on a 
structure that was reconstructed and they determined that it was Significant.  
That home was not surrounded by a number of historic houses.  Ms. Beatlebrox 
thought this decision was difficult because of the historic context of the 
surrounding structures.  

Board Member Hewett believed that was the reason why they spend so much 
time on the rules for building a new home because it is important for the new 
structure to fit into the character of the neighborhood.  However, in the end, she 
did not believe that should be part of the decision making when determining 
significance.                                                                                 

MOTION:  Board Member Hewett moved that the Historic Preservation Board 
finds that the structure at 416 Ontario does not meet the criteria for a designation 
of Significant to the Historic Sites Inventory, based on the Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law found in the Staff report as clarified and amended.  Board 
Member Stephens seconded the motion.

VOTE:  The motion passed unanimously.

Findings of Fact – 416 Ontario Avenue      

1. The Park City Historic Sites Inventory (HSI), adopted February 4, 2009, 
includes 414 sites of which 192 sites meet the criteria for designation as 
Landmark Sites and 222 sites meet the criteria for designation as Significant 
Sites.  This site was not included on the 2009 HSI.  

2.The house at 416 Ontario Avenue is within the Historic Residential (HR-1) 
zoning district.

3. The residential structure at 416 Ontario Avenue was not listed on the Historic 
Sites Inventory in 2009.  

4. There is a one-and-a-half-story wood frame modified pyramid house at 416 
Ontario Avenue.
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5. The house was constructed in 1904, per the Summit County Recorder.  The 
house was constructed during the Mature Mining Era (1894-1930).

6. The house first appears on the 1907 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map and remains 
unchanged on the 1929 and 1941 Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps.

7. The ca. 1940 tax photograph shows that the house had features typical of 
pyramid-type houses in Park City; including, a truncated hip roof (clipped pyramid 
roof) with cedar shakes, a generally symmetrical façade including two (2) pairs of 
double hung windows on either side of the slightly off-centered front door with a 
transom window above, and a porch with a centered low pitch hip roof that did 
not span the width of the front façade.  In addition, the ca. 1940 tax photograph 
shows the two (2) trees located in the front yard on either side of the front door, 
which are still present today. 

8. The 1949 and 1958 the tax appraisal cards state that the house was 624 
square feet.  Based on known measurements of the house, it can be estimated 
that the square footage of the core of the house in 1907, 1929, and 1941 was 
624 square feet.  

9. The house was documented as a part of the 1983 Reconnaissance Level 
Survey and was listed as non-contributory at that time.  

10. The 1982 Reconnaissance Level Survey documented that a centered dormer 
(west dormer) had been added to the main roof on the primary façade, the 
northeast addition was expanded, new siding installed, and the porch had been 
removed. 

11. After 1982, the west dormer addition was expanded, a new north dormer was 
added, the northeast addition was expanded, and a new metal roof has been 
installed.

12. The addition of the west and north dormer(s) eliminated the peak of the 
truncated hip-roof (clipped-pyramid) roof form.

13. The configuration of the historic pair of double hung windows, the historic 
door, and historic transom window above the front door still remains. 

14. The only Building Permits on file include a reroof in 1995 and the installation 
of a floor heater in 2011.

15. The house is clad in horizontal wood lap siding.  

16. The scale and context of the house has not been maintained.  
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17. The two (2) dormer additions have eliminated the peak of the truncated hip-
roof (clipped-pyramid) roof form and diminished its Historical Form.   

18. The original pyramid form is not discernable.  

19. The mass and scale of the house are no longer consistent with the historic 
district, because of the loss of historic materials, architectural features, and 
treatments.  

20. The house has lost its association with an era of historic importance to the 
community.

21. The house does not meet LMC 15-11-10(A)(2)(C) as the materials no longer 
reflect the Historic  or Architectural character of the site or district.

22. The site does not meet the criteria as Significant on the City’s Historic Sites 
Inventory. 

23. Staff finds that the structure at 416 Ontario Avenue does not meet the 
standards for local “significant” designation, and does not meet the criteria for 
“landmark” designation.  In order for the site to be designated as “landmark,” the 
structure would have to be eligible for the National Register of Historic Places 
and retain a high level of integrity.  

Conclusions of Law – 416 Ontario Avenue

The existing structure located at 416 Ontario Avenue meets all of the criteria for a 
Significant Site as set forth in LMC Section 15-11-10(A)(2) which includes:
(a) It is at least fifty (50) years old or the Site is of exceptional importance to the 
community; and 
Complies. 
(b) It retains its Historical Form as may be demonstrated but not limited by any of 
the following: 

(i) It previously received a historic grant from the City; or 
(ii) It was previously listed on the Historic Sites Inventory; or 
(iii) It was listed as Significant or on any reconnaissance or intensive level 
survey of historic resources; or 
Does not comply.

(c) It has one (1) or more of the following: 
(i) It retains its historic scale, context, materials in a manner and degree 
which can be restored to Historical Form even if it has non-historic 
additions; and 
(ii) It reflects the Historical or Architectural character of the site or district 
through design characteristics such as mass, scale, composition, 
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materials, treatment, cornice, and/or other architectural features as are 
Visually Compatible to the Mining Era Residences National Register 
District even if it has non-historic additions; or 
Does not comply. 

The existing structure located at 416 Ontario Avenue does not meet all of the 
criteria for designating sites to the Park City Historic Sites Inventory as a 
Landmark Site including:
(a) It is at least fifty (50) years old or has achieved Significance or if the Site is of 
exceptional importance to the community; and Complies. 
(b) It retains its Historic Integrity in terms of location, design, setting, materials, 
workmanship, feeling and association as defined by the National Park Service for 
the National Register of Historic Places; and Does Not Comply. 
(c) It is significant in local, regional or national history, architecture, engineering 
or culture associated with at least one (1) of the following:

i. An era that has made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of 
our history;
ii. The lives of Persons significant in the history of the community, state, 
region, or nation; or
iii. The distinctive characteristics of type, period, or method of construction 
or the work of a notable architect or master craftsman.  Complies.

  
2. Design Guideline Revisions—Staff recommends that the Historic 

Preservation Board take public comment on the proposed changes to the 
Design Guidelines for Park City’s Historic Districts and Historically 
Significant Buildings. Universal and Specific Design Guidelines will be 
reviewed for: Site Design; Primary Structures: Foundations; Exterior 
Walls; Roofs; Store Fronts; Doors (Not included in Storefronts); Windows 
(not included in storefronts); Gutters & Downspouts; Historic 
Balconies/Porticos; Decks, Fire Escapes, and Exterior Staircases; 
Chimneys and Stovepipes; Architectural Features; Mechanical Equipment, 
Communications, and Service Areas; Paint & Color; Additions to Primary 
Structures: Protection of Historic Sites and Structures; Transitional 
Elements; General Compatibility; Scenario 1: Rooftop Additions; Scenario 
2: Rear Additions; Basement Additions; New Storefronts; New Balconies; 
New Decks; Handrails; Awnings; and Reusing Historic Houses as 
Commercial Structures. The Board will provide specific amendments to be 
made to the document if necessary; and make a recommendation to City 
Council.    (Application PL-13-0022)

Planner Grahn reported that the HPB previously reviewed these Design 
Guidelines for Main Street.  At that time the Board wanted the opportunity to walk 
around Main Street to see how the Guidelines could be applied. The Guidelines 
were outlined in the Staff report.  
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Planner Grahn referred to language indicating that substitute decking material 
could be used for balconies.  She recalled that the Board had a lengthy 
discussion about whether or not substitute decking materials should be used on 
historic porches, and they were adamant that the decking material should be
wood.  Planner Grahn offered to remove that guideline.   

Board Member Hewett understood from a previous discussion that the Planning 
Department could request that a foundation be covered for a better appearance, 
but they could not require it.  Ms. Hewett noted that the language in the guideline 
was still the same in suggesting that the foundation be covered with whatever 
materials.  She wanted to know why they could not require it.

Planner Grahn explained that Main Street building can be different on how their 
foundations relate.  On the Main Street façade they would not want to see a two-
foot foundation.  It is normally where the kick plate is based on the language of 
the commercial building.  As the hillside goes down and the building is more 
level, and it is on either the Swede Alley side or the right-of-way side of the 
building, she did not believe it would have as much impact on the look of the 
building.  She offered to look into it if there was consensus among the Board that 
foundations should be covered.  

Board Member Hewett thought they would look nicer covered.  Having Swede 
Alley look nice was also important.   She was unsure about the legalities and 
whether they were overstepping their boundary; but if that was not an issues she 
suggested that they require that the foundation to be covered to look better.                     

Planner Grahn read the Guideline on page 145 of the Staff report.  “A historic site 
shall be returned to original grade following construction of a foundation. When 
original grade cannot be achieved, generally no more than six (6) inches of the 
new foundation shall be visible above final grade on the primary and secondary 
façades”. She stated that they could say that the foundation shall “not” be 
visible rather than allowing six inches to show.

Ms. Hewett noted that language three lines down says, “Consider adding a plinth, 
or trim board, at the base of a historic structure to visually anchor the historic 
structure to the new foundation”.  Rather than say “consider” she thought it  
should just say to do it.  

Board Member Stephens stated that the reference to “six inches” is part of the 
Uniform Building Code that requires the use of a material that will not deteriorate 
from water for the first six inches above grade. Wood will not work and that 
would require the use of composite material or stone.  

Planner Grahn asked if the Board wanted to take a stronger stand on the plinth 
and trim board and make it a requirement.  Mr. Stephens remarked that from a 
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design standpoint the building needs to feel anchored to its site.  Chair White 
stated that on Woodside Avenue there were a couple of homes where the 
concrete foundation came up above the grade to sometimes as much as three 
feet.  He recalled previous discussions about berming the grade up to reduce the 
visual appearance of the concrete foundation.  Chair White was unsure how that 
could be legislated.  

Planner Grahn stated that the foundation guidelines require regrading as much 
as possible and narrowing the amount of the new foundation that is exposed.  
They would not want historic wood materials or new wood material sitting on the 
dirt, but at the same time the foundation should not detract from the historic 
building.   

Board Member Stephens agreed with Ms. Hewett that they should be more 
specific in saying that no more than six inches of the foundation can be exposed.  
Chair White favored that approach.  Mr. Stephens pointed out that being more 
specific would not leave it open to interpretation.  

Board Member Stephens referred to the guidelines on page 164 of the Staff 
report regarding roof additions.  On the Main Street side he understood that it 
was one level and back 50% behind the primary façade.  Planner Grahn stated 
that one reason for saying only story from the wall plate is because a lot of the 
buildings have false fronts.  Even though it may look like a flat roof building there 
could actually be a gable hiding behind the façade.  If one story is measured from 
the gable, it is actually two stories.  Mr. Stephen asked what was one story.  
Planner Grahn replied that it was not narrowed down, but she thought they would 
have to be subjective and use their best preservation methods.  

Board Member Stephens commented on ADA access issues and ADA access 
with the front entrances.  He noted that when the City and County Building in Salt 
Lake was redone, the building was historic but they were able to work through 
many of the historic issues.  However, he knew of very few historic buildings on 
Main Street that actually comply with ADA access.  Chair White pointed out that 
Main Street does not comply.  Mr. Stephens asked if it was an issue for the 
Design Guidelines, or whether it was a Building Department issue.  Planner 
Grahn replied that it was a Building Department issue, and the Design Guidelines 
need to compensate the best way possible.  She stated that depending on the 
building, a lot of times it is easier to put the ADA access off the back.  Depending 
on how the building is laid out, the rear entrance usually works well, primarily 
because of the grade along Swede Alley.  Mr. Stephens noted that on the west 
side of Main Street there is limited or no access.      

Board Member Stephens commented on an issue that he thought needed to be 
quantified between the Building Department and the Planning Department so the 
design community understands what it has to work with when redoing the front 
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entrances.   He stated that changing a non-ADA access to an ADA access could 
have a dramatic impact on a design.  

Board Member Hewett recalled that the last time the HPB had this discussion, 
Planner Grahn pointed out that almost all of the openings have been adapted to 
ADA, and that there were more issues with the links from the 1980s.  Planner 
Grahn agreed.  She did not believe there were many original doors left from the 
historic period.  When they were working on the Main Street improvements there 
was a lot of talk about changing the grade on Main Street to make it more ADA 
accessible, and what should be done with all the stairs that project onto Main 
Street.  At that time there were no solutions and everything was kept as is.  Mr. 
Stephens stated that he had walked Main Street after their last discussion and he 
still found many issues that would prevent ADA access.  He also recalled
discussions about encouraging restorations on Main Street, and he thought that 
is where they would encounter bigger problems.  

Planner Grahn offered to speak with the Building Department about ADA 
requirements on Main Street.  She also believed the Secretary of the Interior 
would have work sheet on creating ADA accessibility in historic buildings.  Since 
this would apply to Main Street and also residential buildings, she and Planner 
Turpen would try to draft supplementary guidelines.  She suggested that ADA 
could be its own chapter.  Mr. Stephens reiterated that when the design 
community goes into the Building Department they should know what the 
expectations are ahead of time.  

Chair White recalled that when Ron Ivie was the Chief Building Official, he gave 
historic building a little slack.  Mr. Stephen stated that he had that same 
experience with Mr. Ivie; however, he was not sure that was ever formalized.  

Director Erickson noted that they just went through this issue on the Barn.  It was 
not a remote issue and it would not take the Staff long to go back to the 
standards and craft some language.   

Board Member Stephens commented on the language stating that storm 
windows need to be on the inside.  He thought they were seeing more 
replacement windows than storm windows.  Mr. Stephens asked if that was 
strictly on commercial building or residential buildings as well.  Planner Grahn 
believed that the current Guidelines only have a section about windows, and it 
only says to put the storm window on the inside.  She thought there were a few 
buildings in town with storm windows on the exterior.  If they are put on the 
exterior they should mimic the frame of the window next to it.  It should not 
overlap or look thin and cheap.  Mr. Stephens identified a typical historic storm 
window that was used back in the 1940s.  It was wood, single-paned glass hung 
on brackets on the outside.  The millwork actually matched the types of windows 

Historic Preservation Board November 2, 2016 Page 19



being built at that time.  He thought it was an appropriate way of doing exterior 
storm windows.  

Planner Grahn presented the Guideline as written and asked if the 1940s storm 
window would meet the guideline.  Mr. Stephens asked when it would not be 
feasible to do an interior storm window.  Planner Grahn replied that it would 
depend on how the window is constructed and how the interior was remodeled.  
Director Erickson stated that he has never seen an interior storm window.  

Director Erickson suggested that they could strengthen the language by saying, 
“storm windows on the outside should match or complement the way storm 
windows would have been constructed at the time of the building.”  Mr. Stephens 
suggested that they eliminate the interior part.  It should not matter if someone 
wants to put storm windows on the inside.  Planner Grahn would make the 
change to include the language stated by Director Erickson and to remove the 
reference regarding the interior.  

Planner Grahn stated that the Staff was looking for a recommendation to the City 
Council this evening; however, if the Board felt there were too many redlines, 
they could make the changes and bring it back for a recommendation at the next 
meeting.                                                                    

Board Member Beatlebrox commented on paint.  She understood that paint is not 
a popular topic, but she felt the issue was raised when they talked about Swede 
Alley and the fact that paint would tie the front of the building to the back of the 
building.  Ms. Beatlebrox wanted to go on record saying that paint is really 
important.  In the past two high-profile renovations, paint has been the problem.  
She indicated the lack of differentiation of paint at the Main Street Mall, which 
would have minimized the visual appearance of the size.  Another renovation 
was the Rio Grande where the paint or stain was matched to make it look like the 
same building and not historic.  Ms. Beatlebrox requested that the HPB re-open 
the paint issue at some point because she believes that paint is within their 
purview. 

Board Member Stephens asked if Ms. Beatlebrox was talking about paint color or 
the finishes to differentiate different components of the building.  Ms. Beatlebrox 
replied that she was talking about both.  In talking about color, she compared 
Flanagan’s, which is very appropriate, to the clothing store building that was 
purple and green, and Chloe Lane which was very bright and inappropriate.  She 
believed that paint makes a different.

Board Member Holmgren stated that the HPB is not the paint police, and if they 
were, the Rio Grande building should have been brought back in yellow.  Ms. 
Holmgren firmly believed that the City could not tell people what color to paint 
their house.  Ms. Beatlebrox remarked that paint makes a big difference in the 
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look and feel of the street. When they talk about Main Street in particular, she 
thought there should be guidelines or references.  

Planner Grahn stated that when the HPB did the compatibility study on the 
residential houses, the Board agreed that when the addition was painted a 
different color that the historic house, each portion popped a lot more.  However, 
since they do not control paint colors, they gave up with guidelines that suggest 
painting the addition a different color than historic structure.  She pointed out that 
they would not want brick and stone surfaces to be painted.  They tried to hone in 
on the word “finish” rather than “color”.  Planner Grahn stated that from a 
preservation standpoint, if they are looking at regulating paint, they should look at 
the historic color.  Another issue is whether people would be more inclined to 
paint their house without permission, and if so, it would create the problem of 
regulation and Code enforcement.  People could also let the paint disintegrate 
and deteriorate the wood because they do not want to go through the hassle of 
getting a paint palette approved.  Mr. Stephens recalled that when the City 
approved paint colors in the past, they were seeing a repetition of the same 
colors over and over again because everyone knew those colors would be 
approved.                                  

Board Member Hewett asked if they could approve the color schemes for 
commercial but not for residential.  Board Member Stephens thought that would 
be an interesting approach.  Planner Grahn offered to research what other 
communities do with respect to paint.  She noted that the Planning Department 
has a paint palette from the 1990s when they were regulating paint.  When 
people come to the counter asking about historic paint colors they show them 
that pallet.  Mr. Stephens questioned whether it was even historic issue.  In his 
opinion, it was more of a design issue in terms of new construction versus old 
construction and a way of differentiating shapes and additions.  He thought it 
might be beneficial to have the Planning Staff look at paint more closely in the 
commercial district.  

Board Member Holmgren stated that she would personally like the buildings on 
Swede Alley to be brighter colors. 

Chair White opened the public hearing.

There were no comments.

Chair White closed the public hearing.  

MOTION: Board Member Beatlebrox moved to forward a POSITIVE 
recommendation to the City Council for the proposed changes to the Park City’s 
Design Guidelines for Historic Districts and Historic Sites as amended and 
researched by the Planning Department with the changes as indicated on storm 
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windows and foundations; and that the Staff do additional research on paint 
management in the HCB and HRC Districts.  Board Member Holmgren seconded 
the motion.

VOTE:  The motion passed unanimously.               

Director Erickson noted that the Staff was seeing a number of proposals for 
small cell sites and distributive antennas in order to densify the cell network.  
Other cities have a cell manager/planner technician. The Staff will be coming 
forward with additional regulations on small cell.  The antennas are smaller but 
the box on the ground is larger, similar to the power transmission.      
           

  
The meeting adjourned at 6:40 p.m. 

Approved by  
  David White, Chair  
  Historic Preservation Board
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Memo to the Historic Preservation Board  

Application #: PL-16-03189 
Subject:  336 Daly Avenue  
Author:  Anya Grahn, Historic Preservation Planner 
Date:   November 2, 2016 
Type of Item:  Relocation of a Significant Garage and Material 

Deconstruction of the Garage  
 
The applicant for this project has requested that we schedule this item on our December 
7, 2016, meeting due to her availability.  The applicant is requesting to relocate the 
garage off of her property and on to the adjacent property owned by Talisker.   As part 
of the relocation, she is also proposing to make improvements to the existing historic 
garage structure.    The Building Department issued a Notice and Order to Repair for 
the garage and cabin structure at 360 Daly Avenue on August 29, 2016 to United Park 
City Mines, the owner of the garage and cabin structure.   
 
Staff anticipates that it will be difficult to make a site visit to the garage as part of the 
December 7, 2016 meeting as the building and site will likely be covered by snow at that 
time.  Staff has scheduled a site visit with the HPB to inspect the garage at its current 
location and identify its proposed landing spot on the site.   
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Historic Preservation Board 
Staff Report 
 
Author:  Anya Grahn, Historic Preservation Planner 
Subject:  LMC Amendment- Building Height- Roof Pitch 
Date:                    November 2, 2016 
Type of Item: Legislative—LMC Amendment 
 
Summary Recommendations 
Staff recommends the Historic Preservation Board conduct a public hearing and 
continue this item to a date uncertain.  

Background: 
The HPB reviewed this item on August 3, 2016, and directed staff to meet with the 
design community to further discuss the impacts of the proposed LMC changes.  Staff 
has organized lunch discussions with developers and architects on August 24th and 
September 21st to receive feedback.  Staff is reviewing this input from the design 
community and determining how best to amend the LMC.   
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Historic Preservation Board
Staff Report
Author:  Anya Grahn, Historic Preservation Planner 
     Hannah Turpen, Planner  
Subject:   Historic Sites Inventory 
Address:   227 Main Street – Star Hotel 
Project Number: PL-16-03330 
Date:                  November 2, 2016 
Type of Item: Administrative – Determination of Significance for Building 

Summary Recommendation:  
Staff recommends the Historic Preservation Board review the application, conduct a 
public hearing, and find that the building at 227 Main Street, also known as the Star 
Hotel, is “Significant” and should remain on the Park City Historic Sites Inventory.  

The Historic Preservation Board will be conducting a site visit to 227 Main Street prior to 
the regular meeting agenda on November 2, 2016. 

Topic: 
Project Name:  Star Hotel at 227 Main Street 
Applicant:   Westlake Land LLC (Represented by Todd Cusick) 
Owners: Westlake Land LLC
Proposal:   Determination of Significance  
 
Background: 
The Park City Historic Sites Inventory (HSI), adopted February 4, 2009, currently 
includes 414 sites of which 192 sites meet the criteria for designation as Landmark 
Sites and 222 sites meet the criteria for designation as Significant Sites.  Since 2009, 
staff has reviewed Determination of Significance (DOS) applications with the HPB on a 
case-by-case basis in order to keep the Historic Sites Inventory (HSI) current.  The 
Historic building at 227 Main Street was constructed c.1921 according to the Summit 
County Recorder’s Office and is designated on the Historic Sites Inventory as a 
Significant Site.  The building was first identified as historic in 2007 as part of the City’s 
Historic Building Inventory (see HPB Resolution 07-01), and was later included in the 
2009 Historic Sites Inventory.  
 
There have been a number of previous Planning and Building Department approvals.  
Sign plans were approved in 1991 and 2000.  There was also a permit to replace the 
awnings on the building in 1994, temporary roof repair in 2005, stucco repair in 2007, 
and a new water heater in 2009. 
 
The current owner has been meeting with Staff since 2013 to explore development 
options on this site. The applicant submitted a Determination of Significance (DOS) 
application to remove the building from the HSI on September 29, 2016.  The 
application was deemed complete on October 6, 2016.   

Planning Department
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The Park City Building Department recorded a Notice and Order to Repair the structure 
on October 2, 2015.  The Notice and Order requires the owner to vacate the structure 
due to hazardous conditions.  The conditions include the lack of a stable foundation 
beneath the structure and further decay of portions of the rubble foundation due to 
water infiltration.  There is also missing foundation beneath some of the support 
members, and the structural members have wracked, warped, buckled, and settled.  
Finally, the Notice and Order documents the lack of structural stability of the chimney.   
 
On September 29, 2016, the Planning Department received an application for a 
Determination of Significance; it was deemed complete on October 6, 2016. As 
indicated by the applicant’s submittal, the applicant has spent the last two years 
conducting exploratory demolition on the interior of the structure in order to determine 
the building’s history.  The applicant proposes to remove the Significant designation 
from the building as they wish to demolish it and redevelop the site. 
 
History of the Structure: 
Staff has traced the history of the structure through CRSA’s intensive level survey of the 
site, site visits, as well as the materials provided by the applicant.   
 
In 1871, the Townsite Company, represented by Edward P. Ferry, David C. McLaughlin, 
and Fred Nims, secured title to four quarter sections, the area that was to become Park 
City.  John and Sarah Huy (sometimes Huey) had predated the Townsite Company and 
built one of the first houses in Park City at 227 Main Street c.1889; however, their title to 
the land was not legally transferred until April 10, 1916, when W.I. Snyder deeded lots 7 
and 8 of the Park City Block 12 to Sarah Huy.   
 
The Huys lived at 227 Main Street on-and-off through the 1920s.  John (1844-1902) and 
Sarah Huy (1849-1930) had moved to Utah from Nevada City.  John worked as an 
engineer at the Ontario Mining Company in Park City; however, he later worked in 
Granite, Montana, where he died in 1902.  The Huys kept their house in Park City and 
continued to reside here until Sarah Huy moved to Colorado in 1920, selling the house 
to D.L.H.D “Joe” Grover, a Chinese immigrant who held large amounts of Park City real 
estate.  
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Cross-wing folk Victorian cottage constructed by the Huys in 1889 at 227 Main Street. 

During this era of Park City’s history, it was not uncommon for Chinese immigrants or 
“Celestials” to face racial discrimination.  The Chinese were often exploited for their 
cheap labor and not permitted to work in the mines.  Instead, they worked in boarding 
houses as cooks, established laundries and restaurants in Park City’s China Town, and 
even contributed to the construction of Park City’s railroads.  The immigrants largely 
settled behind Main Street (now Swede Alley) and lived in tents and shanties; only 
about fourteen houses were constructed in China Town.  Park City’s residents were 
overall tolerant of their Chinese neighbors, though racism certainly existed as is evident 
by the construction of the China Bridge, connecting the Rossie Hill neighborhood to 
Main Street by a bridge that spanned over Chinatown.   
 
Joe Grover was a Chinese immigrant and old time Park City resident.  In addition to 
managing a laundry and restaurant, Grover also acted as a realtor.  He began by 
purchasing a few houses, renting them out, and then purchased more.  By the time of 
his death in 1926, he owned over 60 Park City properties.  When his son, Joe, inherited 
his father’s properties, they were valued at $36,000.   
 
The Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps show that the boarding house replaced the cross-
wing cottage prior to 1929, and the Summit County Recorder’s Office lists the date of 
construction as 1920.  Though Joe Grover did not sell the property to the Allende family 
until 1937, the Sanborn maps indicate that the Allendes had constructed the boarding 
house by 1929 and census records show they had eleven boarders by 1930.  Frank 
Allende (1887-1975), his wife and children, and most of their tenants were Spanish-
born, which may have influenced the Spanish Revival architecture of the boarding 
house.   
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The Sanborn Fire Insurance maps show that the Boarding & Lodging house had replaced the L-shaped 
cross-wing cottage by 1929.   
 
Frank Allende (1887-1975) was a recognized Parkite, known primarily for running a 
boarding house on Park City’s Main Street.  In 1927, the Park Record noted that federal 
agents had arrested Deputy Sheriff W.R. Jefford, who had been bought off by those 
opposing Prohibition.  Following Jefford’s arrest, Allende was arrested and a still along 
with 50 gallons of whisky were seized by federal agents from his property at the Star 
Hotel.  Allende contributed to Park City’s larger underground revolt against Prohibition  
(See Exhibit H). 
 
Prior to 1901, unmarried miners were required to live in mine-owned boarding houses; 
however, the Boarding House Law of 1901 brought an end to the monopoly and 
provided greater demand for private lodging along Main Street.  This law likely 
influenced the construction of the Star Hotel in 1920, which was one of several boarding 
houses concentrated on Upper Main Street.  The others include Alaskan House at 125 
Main Street, 151 Main Street, the Centennial House at 176 Main Street, and the Bogan 
Boarding House at 221 Main Street.  During the Mature Mining Era, Park City’s 
population was largely young, single men who came to seek their fortunes in Park City’s 
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mines.  These US and foreign-born single miners needed lodging that provided room 
and board. 
 

  
 

c. 1930s (Park City Historical Society & Museum, Pop Jenks Collection) 

What’s most curious about the construction of the boarding house is that it was tacked 
on to the front of the original cross-wing.  Even in the 1930s photograph above, the 
gable roof structure and walls of the original cross-wing are evident behind the new 
Spanish Revival-style façade (1).  The roof of the new structure was haphazardly 
constructed atop the original cross-wing and the exterior of the new façade and original 
building were clad in stucco.  While the window and door configuration on the façade 
beneath the two-story covered porch reflect the Spanish Revival style, the remaining 
windows remained true to the design of the cross-wing house (as can be seen in the 
Analysis Section.   
 
In the years before the Great Depression, revival styles were adapted widely across the 
United States and applied to residential and commercial buildings.  As their 
classification indicates, these styles looked to the past and Europe in particular, for 
inspiration.  The 1893 Chicago World’s Fair, the Columbian Exposition, further 
promoted revival style architecture as the exposition encouraged historical 
interpretations of European styles in the design of the fair’s temporary pavilions and 
buildings.   
 
The Panama-California Exposition of 1915-1917 endorsed the Spanish Revival style as 
many of the design of the Exposition’s temporary structures were largely influenced by 
the Spanish Baroque, Spanish Colonial, and Spanish Revival styles. The style paid 
homage to the history of the southwest, playing up the architecture of New Spain and 
borrowing from Spanish and Latin American architecture.  The style was further 
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disseminated by the Hollywood film industry in the 1920s and 1930s.    It is largely 
characterized by curved and arched openings, white stucco exterior walls, and arcades 
(series of arches supported by columns).   
 
The Spanish Revival style was popular from 1915 to 1940.  As constructed in c.1920, 
the Star Hotel embodied many of the prominent features of this style, such as its 
rectangular plan, low-pitched hip roof, and white stucco walls.  The porch was 
penetrated with three arched openings supported by low, square wood columns forming 
an arcade.  The windows and doors beneath the porch are rectangular as were the 
carriage doors on the lower level that led into the garage.  
 
The Allende family operated the Star Hotel on this site for several decades before 
ultimately selling the property to William and Joyce Gardner in 1972.  The Gardners 
then sold the property to the Rixie family in 1975. 
 

C.1940 Tax Photograph of the Star Hotel at 227 Main Street
 
The Rixies were responsible for many of the changes seen on the building today.  
William and Georgie Carol Rixie remodeled the façade of the building in 1976, 
converting the two-story porch into an enclosed porch that mimicked the original form.  
The Rixies covered the stone foundation and staircase on the south side of the building 
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with new stucco in 1976. The new façade won a beautification award in November 
1976.   
 

  
c.1976 photo of Rixies remodeling the 

front of the building.
c.1982 Architectural Survey photo

 
The Rixies also constructed a fourth floor addition above the original cross-wing 
between 1976 and 1977.  This addition is wood framed and sits atop the ridge of the 
cross-wing house with a single dormer extending over the ridge.  Their son Bill also 
remembers modifying window openings, door openings, and building materials.  
As previously noted, the Rixies also replaced awnings in 1994, made a temporary roof 
repair in 2005, and completed stucco repair in 2007. 
 

Applicant submitted this rooftop view of the Star Hotel, showing the rear addition that was added by the 
Rixies 1976-1977. 
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A National Register architectural survey of Park City’s historic resources was completed 
in April 1982 (Exhibit D).  At that time, Ellen Beasley found that the building was non-
contributory and noted that the “new façade put on in Depression; has been changed 
again.”  Staff has found no evidence of the façade being replaced during the Great 
Depression (1929-1939); however, it is clear that the Rixies converted the two-story 
porch into an enclosed porch in 1976.  Further staff believes that Beasley’s 
determination was due in part because of the changes to the façade and also because 
the Spanish revival style contrasts with the folk Victorian style and western mining town 
feel of Park City’s Main Street.  
 
A second National Register reconnaissance-level inventory survey was conducted by 
Allen Roberts in 1995 (Exhibit E).  He evaluated 227 Main Street as “C(?) B(?)”.  C-
rated buildings were over 50 years old but altered and not presently eligible for the 
National Register; B-rated buildings were potentially eligible but slightly less significant 
and/or intact.   
 
In 2007, the Historic Preservation Board passed Resolution 07-01 which established a 
Historic Building Inventory.  Using the criteria set forth by the LMC, consultants Dina 
Blaes and Beatrice Luftkin conducted a citywide survey of 571 properties that were 
determined to be either undeniably or possibly historic sites; the list was then finalized 
to 416 historically significant properties which included 227 Main Street.  At the time of 
designations, the property owner still had the right to request a formal hearing with the 
Historic Preservation Board for a Determination of Significance (DOS).  Any final action 
regarding the adoption of the Historic Building Inventory in its entirety could be appealed 
to the Board of Adjustment (BOA) within ten (10) days.  Individual hearings for DOSs 
had no time limit for appeal as they would be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.  (See 
Exhibit F—Property Worksheet on 227 Main Street, 2007 Historic Property Inventory) 
 
On August 4, 2008, the Park City Council adopted Ordinance 08-33 imposing a 
temporary moratorium on the demolition of any structure located within the municipal 
boundaries and built before 1962.  Further, City Council provided additional direction to 
staff to move forward with amendments to LMC 15-11-12 Determination of Historical 
Significance to accommodate “Landmark” and “Significant” designations and to broaden 
the criteria by which buildings, structures, and sites are designated as historic.   
 
On January 22, 2009, City Council passed Ordinance 09-05 amending the LMC criteria 
for designating sites to the HSI.  On February 4, 2009, the HPB approved Resolution 
09-01 adopting the Historic Sites Inventory (Exhibit G).  227 Main Street was designated 
as a Significant site as part of this inventory.   
 
The current owner, Westlake Land, LLC purchased the property in 2013.  The owner 
has spent considerable time documenting the building.  Based on his documentation, 
physical evidence, and staff’s understanding of the history of the building, staff finds 
concluded an in-depth analysis of the historic materials which can be found in Exhibit A.  
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Analysis and Discussion: 
Per Land Management Code § 15-11-9, it is deemed to be in the interest of the citizens 
of Park City, as well as the State of Utah, to encourage the preservation of Buildings, 
Structures, and Sites of Historic Significance in Park City. These Buildings, Structures 
and Sites are among the City’s most important cultural, educational, and economic 
assets. In order that they are not lost through neglect, Demolition, expansion or change 
within the City, the preservation of Historic Sites, Buildings, and Structures is required. 
The Land Management Code encourages owners to preserve the Essential Historical 
Form of the historic structure; the Essential Historical Form is defined as the physical 
characteristics of a Structure that make it identifiable as existing in or relating to an 
important era in the past.  
 
The Design Guidelines provide direction on maintaining and preserving this Essential 
Historical Form.  Universal Guideline #1  states that a site should be used as it was 
historically or be given a new use that requires minimal change to the distinctive 
materials and features.  Universal Guideline #3 further encourages the preservation of 
historic exterior features of a building.  Finally, Universal Guidelines #9 and #10 provide 
direction to sensitively introducing new additions so that the new addition has a minimal 
impact on the historic materials and features of the building, as well as so the addition 
can be removed in the future to restore the essential form of the building. 
 
The Historic Preservation Board is authorized by Title 15-11-5(I) to review and take 
action on the designation of sites within the Historic Sites Inventory (HSI).  The Historic 
Preservation Board may designate sites to the Historic Sites Inventory as a means of 
providing recognition to and encouraging the preservation of historic sites in the 
community (LMC 15-11-10).  Land Management Code Section 15-11-10(A) sets forth 
the criteria for designating sites to the Park City Historic Sites Inventory (HSI).  The 
structure is currently identified as “Landmark” on the Historic Site Form.   
 
Staff finds that the site would not meet the criteria for Landmark designation, based on 
the following: 

LANDMARK SITE.  Any Buildings (main, attached, detached, or public), Accessory 
Buildings, and/or Structures may be designated to the Historic Sites Inventory as a 
Landmark Site if the Planning Department finds it meets all the criteria listed below: 
 
(a) It is at least fifty (50) years old or has achieved Significance or if the Site is of 
exceptional importance to the community; and  

Complies. Per the analysis, the original cross-wing house was constructed 1889 
and the Star Hotel addition to the east was constructed c.1920.  Portions of the 
building are between 96 and 127 years old.   
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(b) It retains its Historic Integrity in terms of location, design, setting, materials, 
workmanship, feeling and association as defined by the National Park Service for the 
National Register of Historic Places; and 

Does not comply.  The construction of at least two additions by the Rixies between 
1976 and 1977 and changes to materials have caused the structure to lose its 
historic integrity. The overall form of the structure has been altered due to the Rixie 
additions, and the conversion of the two-story porch on the Main Street façade in 
1976 significantly altered the original design, materials, workmanship, and historic 
sense of the c.1920 boarding house.  Due to the cumulative effect of these 
changes, the building would no longer be eligible for the National Register of 
Historic Places as defined by the National Park Service. (See Exhibit A for staff’s 
analysis of remaining historic features) 
 

(c) It is significant in local, regional or national history, architecture, engineering or 
culture associated with at least one (1) of the following: 

(i) An era that has made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history; 
(ii) The lives of Persons significant in the history of the community, state, 
region, or nation; or  
(iii) The distinctive characteristics of type, period, or method of construction or 
the work of a notable architect or master craftsman. 
 

Complies.  The boarding house was constructed c.1920 during Park City’s Mature 
Mining Period (1894-1930), likely as a response to provide additional housing for 
miners along Main Street.  The boarding house is associated with both Joe Grover, 
a prominent Chinese immigrant who transgressed beyond the Chinatown of Swede 
Alley to become the owner of over one-hundred Park City properties, as well as 
Frank Allende, a Spanish-born immigrant who ran a boarding house that catered 
primarily to Spanish-born miners according to census records.  The original 
appearance of the building in the Spanish Revival-style contrasts with the folk 
Victorian styles typically seen along Park City’s Main Street but reflects the growing 
demand for European-inspired Revival styles, made popular at the beginning of the 
twentieth century.

 
In order to be included on the HSI, the Historic Preservation Board will need to 
determine that the building meets the criteria for Significant, as outlined below:  
 
SIGNIFICANT SITE. Any Buildings (main, attached, detached or public), Accessory 
Buildings and/or Structures may be designated to the Historic Sites Inventory as a 
Significant Site if the Planning Department finds it meets all the criteria listed below: 
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(a) It is at least fifty (50) years old or the Site is of exceptional importance to the 
community; and  
 

Complies.  As previously noted, the original cross-wing house was constructed in 
1889 and the Star Hotel addition to the east was constructed c.1920.  Portions of 
the building are between 96 and 127 years old.  Staff finds that while the two-story 
porch on the façade was converted into an enclosed porch, portions of that porch 
and the remainder of the building are indeed over 50 years old.  Please see 
discussion below and Exhibit A for more detail as to which historic materials remain. 
 
The applicant contests that the Star Hotel building that exists today is not historic 
and is not the same structure that existed during the historic period.  The applicant 
asserts that the Rixie family, his predecessors, largely reconstructed the façade of 
the Star Hotel.  He believes that the physical evidence he has provided shows that 
the historic structure is not “hiding behind” the Rixie’s alterations.   
 

(b) It retains its Historical Form as may be demonstrated but not limited by any of the 
following:  

(i) It previously received a historic grant from the City; or  
(ii) It was previously listed on the Historic Sites Inventory; or  
(iii) It was listed as Significant or on any reconnaissance or intensive level survey of 
historic resources; or  
 
Complies. Staff finds that despite the 1976-1977 conversion of the two-story porch 
on the façade into an enclosed porch and the fourth story addition in the rear of the 
building, the c.1920 Star Hotel largely maintains its Historical Form.  The overall 
shape, mass, and volume of the structure has not changed since 1920, with the 
exception of the fourth-story rear addition made by the Rixies.  Though the Rixies 
converted the two-story porch in 1976 to an enclosed porch, it largely retained the 
original dimensions and footprint of the original porch.     
 
As outlined in Exhibit A, staff finds that many of the original door and window 
openings are present on the sides and rear elevations of the existing building.  As 
shown in Exhibit A, the c.1889 double-hung two-over-two windows of the original 
cross-wing house are still visible from the north and south elevations.  Beyond the 
front wall of the original cross-wing, the windows on the side elevations change to 
more rectangular, horizontal-oriented openings which reflect the era of the Spanish-
revival style addition that was built to the front (east) of the cross-wing c.1920.  On 
the rear (west) elevation, there are ghost lines of original window openings on the 
two gable ends of the cross wing, beneath the c.1976 fourth-story addition 
constructed by the Rixies.   
 
The building has not received any historic grants from the City. 
 
As described in the analysis above, the building was evaluated as “non-
contributory” in the 1982 Ellen Beasley survey, which focused on National Register 
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eligibility. Nevertheless, it was found to be historic on the 2007 Historic Building 
Inventory and designated as Significant on the Historic Sites Inventory in 2009 as it 
was found to comply with the LMC criteria for designation to the Historic Site 
Inventory as a “Significant” site.  (See Exhibit G)   
 
As seen in Exhibit A, Staff finds that the there is a substantial amount of historic 
materials and form still extant on the building which include, but are not limited to 
the following:  

 East Elevation:  
o Portions of the basement level stone foundation 
o Historic exterior wall plane of the now enclosed porch 
o Two (2) porch posts on the third level 
o Door and window openings 
o Ornamental eave structure 

 South Elevation 
o Ornamental eave structure 
o Chimney 
o Windows 

 North Elevation 
o Ornamental eave structure 
o Windows 

 West Elevation 
o Portions of the historic gabled ends (ca. 1889) 

 Additional Materials present on all elevations 
o Roof Form and Cornice 
o Historic wood siding and trim materials 
o Portions of the historic stucco 

 
Unlike staff, the applicant finds that the building has lost its historic integrity due to 
the amount of alterations made outside of the Mature Mining Period (1894-1930). In 
his analysis, he agreed with Ellen Beasley’s 1982 analysis which determined the 
building was “non-contributory” and should be “treated as new.”  He also cited 
CRSA’s 2015 intensive level survey which also found that the façade was not 
historic.   
 
Staff finds that CRSA noted, “The historic façade was covered in a non-historic 
1976 alteration which yielded the appearance that remains today.  The original 
columns were furred out and the remaining openings were closed in with glazing.  
The accents and craftsmanship of the original were lost, and the alteration detracts 
from the historic integrity of the building.”  This is the only alteration that CRSA 
mentions has been made to the historic building. (Exhibit C) 
 

(c) It has one (1) or more of the following:  
(i) It retains its historic scale, context, materials in a manner and degree which can 
be restored to Historical Form even if it has non-historic additions; and  
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(ii) It reflects the Historical or Architectural character of the site or district through 
design characteristics such as mass, scale, composition, materials, treatment, 
cornice, and/or other architectural features as are Visually Compatible to the Mining 
Era Residences National Register District even if it has non-historic additions; or  

 
Complies. Staff finds that the building retains its historic scale, context and 
materials in a manner and degree which can be restored to the Historical Form.  
The 1976 front porch could be removed and reconstructed to match that seen in the 
c.1940 tax photograph.  Further, the fourth story rear addition could also be 
removed.  The Rixies’ conversion of the porch into an enclosed porch loosely pays 
tribute to the original Spanish Revival design of the building with its arched 
openings.  The building reflects the Historical and Architectural character of the site 
and district through its mass, scale, composition, materials, and other architectural 
features that are Visually Compatible to the Main Street National Register Historic 
District. 
 
The applicant asserts that the building no longer reflects the Historic or Architectural 
character of the site through its design characteristics due to the contested 
rebuilding of the porch in 1976.  The applicant believes that there are no historic 
features remaining in this building to measure, template, or document.  The 
applicant contests that the building does not meet the criteria for designation as a 
Significant site due to the major alterations that have destroyed the Essential 
Historical Form. 
 

(d) It is important in local or regional history architecture, engineering, or culture 
associated with at least one (1) of the following: 

(i) An era of Historic Importance to the community, or  
(ii) Lives of Persons who were of Historic importance to the community, or 
(iii) Noteworthy methods of construction, materials, or craftsmanship used during 
the Historic period. 
 
Complies. Staff finds that the era of significance for this building is the Spanish 
Revival-style Star Hotel that came into existence c.1920, during the Mature Mining 
Period (1894-1930).   

 
The boarding house was constructed c.1920 during Park City’s Mature Mining 
Period (1894-1930), likely as a response to provide additional housing for single 
miners along Main Street.  The boarding house is associated with both Joe Grover, 
a prominent Chinese immigrant who transgressed beyond the Chinatown of Swede 
Alley to become the owner of over sixty Park City properties, as well as Frank 
Allende, a Spanish-born immigrant who ran a boarding house that catered primarily 
to Spanish-born miners according to census records.  The original appearance of 
the building in the Spanish Revival-style contrasts with the folk Victorian styles 
typically seen along Park City’s Main Street but reflects the growing demand for 
European-inspired Revival styles, made popular at the beginning of the twentieth 
century. 
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Process: 
The HPB will hear testimony from the applicant and the public and will review the 
Application for compliance with the “Criteria for Designating Historic Sites to the Park 
City Historic Sites Inventory.”  The HPB shall forward a copy of its written findings to the 
Owner and/or Applicant.  
 
The Applicant or any party participating in the hearing may appeal the Historic 
Preservation Board decision to the Board of Adjustment.  Appeal requests shall be 
submitted to the Planning Department ten (10) days of the Historic Preservation Board 
decision.  Appeals shall be “de novo” and will be reviewed for correctness. 
 
Notice:
On October 19, 2016, Legal Notice of this public hearing was published in the Park 
Record, according to the requirements of the Land Management Code.  Staff also sent 
a mailing notice to the property owner and property owners within 100 feet on October 
19, 2016 and posted the property on October 19, 2016. 
 
Public Input: 
A public hearing, conducted by the Historic Preservation Board, is required prior to 
adding sites to or removing sites from the Historic Sites Inventory.    No public input was 
received at the time of writing this report.   
 
Alternatives: 

 Conduct a public hearing to consider the DOS for the Star Hotel at 227 Main 
Street described herein and determine whether the structure at 227 Main Street 
meets the criteria for the designation of “Significant” to the Historic Sites 
Inventory according the draft findings of fact and conclusions of law, in whole or 
in part; or 

 Conduct a public hearing and find the structure for the Star Hotel at 227 Main 
Street does not meet the criteria for the designation of “Significant” to the Historic 
Sites Inventory and provide specific findings for this action; or, 

 The Historic Preservation Board may find that additional information is needed 
and continue the action to a date certain. 

 
Significant Impacts: 
There is currently a Notice and Order on the property that requires the owner to stabilize 
the building.  Should the Historic Preservation Board find that the building does not 
meet the criteria for designation as “Significant” on the Historic Sites Inventory, the 
applicant intends to demolish the building immediately in order to satisfy the notice and 
order.  If the building remains on the Historic Sites Inventory, the applicant will need to 
stabilize the building.  The Owner may return to the Historic Preservation Board on 
applications of any reconstruction of the building or Material Deconstruction 
applications. 
 

Historic Preservation Board November 2, 2016 Page 40



Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the Historic Preservation Board review the application, conduct a 
public hearing and find that the building at 227 Main Street, also known as the Star 
Hotel, is “Significant” and should remain on the Park City Historic Sites Inventory.  

Finding of Fact: 
1. The Park City Historic Sites Inventory (HSI), adopted February 4, 2009, includes 

414 sites of which 192 sites meet the criteria for designation as Landmark Sites 
and 222 sites meet the criteria for designation as Significant Sites.   

2. The property at 227 Main Street is located in the Historic Commercial Business 
(HCB) District.   

3. The boarding house is 227 Main Street was listed as “Significant” on the Park 
City Historic Sites Inventory in 2009.  

4. In December 2015, City Council amended the Land Management Code to 
expand the criteria for what structures qualify to be landmark and significant 
sites. 

5. In 1871, the Townsite Company secured title to four quarter sections, the area 
that was to become Park City.  John and Sarah Huy (sometimes Huey) had built 
a house on this property, but the title to the land was not legally transferred to 
Sarah Huy until 1916.   

6. Sarah Huy sold the house to D.L.H.D “Joe” Grover in 1920, a prominent Chinese 
businessman who owned over 60 rental properties in Park City.  It is not believed 
that Grover ever resided at the property, but probably used it as a rental property.  

7. Joe Grover did not sell the property to the Allende family until 1937; however, the 
Allendes had constructed the boarding house by 1929 and census records 
showed that they had eleven boarders by 1930.   

8. The Sanborn Fire Insurance maps of 1889, 1907, 1929, and 1941 substantiate 
that the boarding house was built prior to 1929.   

9. At least three alterations occurred on this site following construction of the 
original cross-wing.  A Spanish Revival-style three-story addition was constructed 
to the east (Main Street) façade of the cross wing c.1920.  The Rixie family 
converted the main and upper level stories of the front porch element into an 
enclosed porch in 1976 and constructed a fourth story addition at the rear of the 
cross-wing in 1976-1977.   

10. The Spanish Revival style elements evident in the construction of the c.1920 
addition include the rectangular plan, low-pitched hip roof, white stucco walls and 
the arcade on the second level above Main Street.    

11. The original cross-wing house was constructed c.1889 and the Spanish-revival 
addition was constructed to the east façade of the cross-wing c.1920.  Portions of 
this building are between 96 and 127 years old.   

12. The historic building at this site contributes the Settlement and Mining Boom Era 
(1894-1930) and largely retains its Essential Historical Form.   

13. The Spanish Revival-style addition to create boarding house was built during an 
era of Historic Importance to the community, the Mature Mining Boom Era (1894-
1930).  It is associated with the lives of persons of Historic importance to the 
community, Joe Grover and Frank Allende.  Moreover, the haphazard 
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construction of the Spanish Revival-style addition to a cross-wing in order to 
meet changing demands, the sites use as a boarding house, and the Spanish 
Revival style are all noteworthy methods of construction, materials, and 
craftsmanship.   

14. The original basement/garage area was covered with stucco by the Rixies during 
the 1976 remodel; however, the stucco could be removed to expose the original 
stone foundation. 

15. The original metal railing for the Star Hotel entrance is still present in the 
structure of the new solid stucco railing. 

16. Due to the location of the now internal walls of the existing enclosed porch, staff 
has concluded that this is the historic exterior wall plane of the Star Hotel prior to 
the enclosure of the porch.  The original entrance opening now includes a non-
historic entrance door with sidelights and the window openings have been 
converted into archways; however, staff has concluded that the historic exterior 
wall plane of the Star Hotel still exists. Staff found physical evidence on the Third 
Level Enclosed Porch of the existence of two (2) historic porch posts.   

17. The original roof form has remained largely unchanged.  The ca. 1889 Cross-
wing cottage roof form is still visible as are the hipped roof form of the main 
structure and the flat roof form formed above the porch projection.   

18. There is physical evidence of the historic internal structure of the flat roof form 
above the porch and the hipped-roof form in the attic, the cornice structure and 
historic stucco on the interior of the Third Level enclosed porch. 

19. The north and south elevations remain largely unchanged due to the existence of 
the historic window openings, historic windows, unadorned eave structure of the 
ca. 1889 cross-wing cottage, ornamental arched eave of the Star Hotel addition, 
and presence of historic materials. The historic chimney is located on the south 
elevation. 

20. The rear (west) elevation still retains the northern and southern gabled-ends of 
the ca. 1889 Cross-wing which were cut in half (vertically) to accommodate the 
1976-1977 Rixie addition, historic wood and stucco siding, and historic trim.  The 
addition could be removed to restore the gabled-ends.  

21. The c.1889 double-hung two-over-two windows of the original cross-wing house 
are still visible from the north and south elevations.   

22. Beyond the front wall of the original cross-wing, the windows on the side 
elevations change to more rectangular, horizontal-oriented openings which 
reflect the era of the Spanish-revival style addition that was built to the front 
(east) of the cross-wing c.1920.   

23. On the rear (west) elevation, there are ghost lines of original window openings on 
the two gable ends of the cross wing, beneath the c.1976 fourth-story addition 
constructed by the Rixies.   

24. Staff finds that the there is a substantial amount of historic materials and form still 
extant on the building which include, but are not limited to the following list 
organized by elevation: the East Elevation contains portions of the basement 
level stone foundation, historic exterior wall plane of the now enclosed porch, two 
(2) porch posts on the third level, door and window openings, ornamental eave 
structure, etc.  The South Elevation contains the ornamental eave structure, 
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chimney, windows, etc. The North Elevation contains the ornamental eave 
structure, windows, etc. The West Elevation contains portions of the historic 
gabled ends (ca. 1889), etc.  Additional materials present on all elevations 
include roof form and cornice, historic wood siding and trim materials, portions of 
the historic stucco, etc. 

25. A second National Register reconnaissance-level inventory survey was 
conducted by Allen Roberts in 1995 and found that the building at 227 Main 
Street should be evaluated as C or B.  C represented buildings over 50 years old 
that had been altered and were not eligible for the National Register of Historic 
Places.  B represented buildings that were potentially eligible but slightly less 
significant and/or intact.  

26. A National Register architectural survey of Park City’s historic resources was 
completed in April 1982 and found the building to be non-contributory.  Staff finds 
that this designation was due to the changes in the façade and also because the 
Spanish revival style contrasts with the folk Victorian style and western mining 
town feel of Park City’s Main Street.  

27. In 2007, the Historic Preservation Board passed Resolution 07-01 which 
established a Historic Building Inventory. 227 Main Street was identified as 
historic on this inventory. 

28. On January 22, 2009, City Council passed Ordinance 09-05 amending the LMC 
criteria for designating sites to the HSI.   

29. On February 4, 2009, the HPB approved Resolution 09-01 adopting the Historic 
Sites Inventory.  227 Main Street was designated as a Significant site as part of 
this inventory.   

30. No Historic District Grant has ever been awarded to this property. 
31. The boarding house at 227 Main Street does not meet the standards for 

“Landmark” designation due to the material changes and alterations to the 
façade in 1976 that have detracted from the building’s historic integrity and made 
it ineligible for the National Register of Historic Places. 

32. On September 29, 2016, the Planning Department received an application for a 
Determination of Significance; it was deemed complete on October 6, 2016. 

 
Conclusions of Law: 

1. The structure located at 227 Main Street does not meet all of the criteria for 
designating sites to the Park City Historic Sites Inventory as a Landmark Site 
including: 

a. It is at least fifty (50) years old or has achieved Significance or if the Site is 
of exceptional importance to the community; and Complies. 

b. It retains its Historic Integrity in terms of location, design, setting, materials, 
workmanship, feeling and association as defined by the National Park 
Service for the National Register of Historic Places; and Does Not 
Comply. 

c. It is significant in local, regional or national history, architecture, engineering 
or culture associated with at least one (1) of the following: 

i. An era that has made a significant contribution to the broad 
patterns of our history; 
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ii. The lives of Persons significant in the history of the community, 
state, region, or nation; or 

iii. The distinctive characteristics of type, period, or method of 
construction or the work of a notable architect or master 
craftsman. Complies.

2. The structure located at 227 Main Street does meet all of the criteria for a 
Significant Site as set forth in LMC Section 15-11-10(A)(2) which includes: 

(a) It is at least fifty (50) years old or the Site is of exceptional importance to the 
community; and  
Complies. 

(b) It retains its Historical Form as may be demonstrated but not limited by any of 
the following:  

(i) It previously received a historic grant from the City; or  
(ii) It was previously listed on the Historic Sites Inventory; or  
(iii) It was listed as Significant or on any reconnaissance or intensive level 
survey of historic resources; or  

Complies. 
(c) It has one (1) or more of the following:  

(i) It retains its historic scale, context, materials in a manner and degree 
which can be restored to Historical Form even if it has non-historic 
additions; and  
(ii) It reflects the Historical or Architectural character of the site or district 
through design characteristics such as mass, scale, composition, 
materials, treatment, cornice, and/or other architectural features as are 
Visually Compatible to the Mining Era Residences National Register 
District even if it has non-historic additions; or Complies.

(d) It is important in local or regional history architecture, engineering, or culture 
associated with at least one (1) of the following: 

(i) An era of Historic Importance to the community, or  
(ii) Lives of Persons who were of Historic importance to the community, or 
(iii) Noteworthy methods of construction, materials, or craftsmanship used 
during the Historic period. Complies. 

Exhibits: 
Exhibit A – Staff’s Analysis  
Exhibit B – Applicant’s Analysis 
Exhibit C – Current Historic Site Form for 227 Main Street 
Exhibit D – 1982 Park City Survey Worksheet for Post-1930s Structures 
Exhibit E –1995 Reconnaissance Level Survey Excerpts 
Exhibit F – 2007 Park City Historic Property Inventory Supplemental 1 Property 

Worksheet 
Exhibit G – February 4, 2009 Historic Preservation Board Staff Report and Minutes 
Exhibit H – Supplemental Photographs and Information 
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EXHIBIT A - Staff's Analysis
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ra
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e 

re
m

ai
ni

ng
 

po
rƟ

on
s o

f t
he

 h
ist

or
ic 

ex
te

rn
al

 w
al

l p
la

ne
 p

re
se

nt
 o

n 
th

e 
in

te
rio

r o
f t

he
 n

ow
 

en
clo

se
d 

po
rc

h.
  (

C)
 D

ue
 to

 th
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EXHIBIT B: Applicant's Physical Conditions Report Submittal
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Westlake Land, LLC 
515 Sheffield Drive 

Provo, UT 84604 
 
July 19, 2016 
 
Ms. Hannah M. Turpen 
Planner, Park City Planning Department 
445 Marsac Avenue 
Park City, UT 84060 
(via hand delivery) 
 
Re: Physical Conditions Report, Internal Demolition – 227 Main Street (Star Hotel) 
 
Dear Ms. Turpen: 
 
In our last Pre-Application meeting on April 12, 2016, regarding the above noted subject it was 
suggested that we obtain an internal demolition permit and explore, from the inside, whether the 
architectural features of the Star Hotel from the historically significant period can be found.  This 
was done in June and July.  Our research has found the following: 
 

1. In July of 1976, William and Carol Rixey, then owners of the Star Hotel, removed the 
façade and replaced it with Mr. William Rixey’s version of a façade that is similar to the 
historical façade but different.  Today’s façade is a 1976 creation. 

2. Park City Municipal Corporation (“PCMC”) permitted the above noted construction.  It 
was inspected by Wayne Matthews of PCMC.  It is our understanding Mr. Matthews was 
then the City Manager of Park PCMC. 

3. The only architectural feature visible and measurable today, possibly from the historically 
significant period, is the chimney on the south side of the structure.  We attempted to 
obtain access to the two rock panels on the front of the structure seen in pre-1975 photos 
but found they cannot not be safely accessed from the inside. 

4. The Historic Site Form – Utah State Historic Preservation Office states (Section 4, 
paragraph 3): In reference to the 1976 renovation, “the accents and craftsmanship of the 
original were lost, and the alteration detracts from the historical integrity of the building.”  
This we agree with.  The Site Form also states: “the historic façade was covered over in 
the non-historic 1976 alteration.”  This is not wholly correct.  You will see that the Rixey 
Affidavit, the Rixey family photos from 1976, and the internal demolition indicate that 
the historic façade was removed and not simply covered.  On July 18, 2016, in phone 
conversation with Mr. Ewanowski, author of the Historic Site Form, he confirmed that 
the use of the word “covered” is an assumption as he did not have the benefit of the eye 
witness accounts, photographs from 1976, or access to the interior of the building.  Mr. 
Ewanowski also suggested that the use of the word “covered” may simply be a “left-
over” from a prior description but he was unsure.  Alternatively, the prior descriptions of 
the Star Hotel may have been using the word “covered” in relation to the home of “Joe 
Grover, Chinese entrepreneur” (see April 1982 PCMC worksheet - below) which was 
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indeed covered by the post-1930’s façade which was removed and replaced by the 1976 
façade. 

5. The April of 1982 PCMC document entitled “PARK CITY WORKSHEET FOR POST-
1930 STRUCTURE” in the question of “SIGNIFIGANCE OF SITE TO DISTRICT” 
(meaning Historic District) correctly marks the Star Hotel as “Non-Contributory” noting 
that the façade has been “changed again” and “treated as new” as of April of 1982. 

 
Enclosed you will find these supporting items: 
 

• Affidavit by Bill Rixey, son of William and Carol Rixey who has first-hand knowledge 
of this construction activity and participated therein. 

• Photographic evidence in Mrs. Rixey’s handwriting documenting the contractor, 
electrician, and the fact that Park City Municipal permitted this construction in July of 
1976 and that it was inspected and approved by the PCMC (Mr. Wayne Matthews). 

• Photographic evidence that the existing door and window openings and other 
architectural features do not match the historic photograph and that these features cannot 
be measured, templated, or recreated simply because they no longer exist. 

• Photographic evidence that the northern most rock panel, the one visible today, comes 
from after 1976. 

• Rixey family photos from 1976 and 1977. 
• Contractor report from internal demolition of June and July 2016. 
• Epic Engineering Report, Adam Huff P.E., dated January 23, 2014, recommending 

complete demolition 
• JZW Laser Scan, Peter Meuzelaar, May 2016 
• Historic Site Form – Utah State Historic Preservation Office, January 2015 
• Photo: Park City Historical Society, Star Hotel – Treasure Mountain Inn 
• Park City Survey Worksheet for Post 1930’s Structure dated February 1982 and April 

1982 
• October 2, 2015, NOTICE from PCMC to Westlake Land ordering demolition of the 

structure 
 
In short, we have concluded the following regarding the façade of the Star Hotel: 
 

1. It is a creation of Mr. William Rixey and was built in July of 1976.  
2. Park City Municipal Code Title 15-11-10(A), CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATING SITES 

TO THE PARK CITY HISTORIC SITE INVENTORY, list three categories in order of 
significance: (1) Landmark Site, (2) Significant Site, and (3) Contributory Site.  In April 
of 1982 the Star Hotel was accurately described as “non-contributory” to the significance 
of the historic district. 

3. The Historic Site Form dated January 2015, accurately notes that the accents and 
craftsmanship of the original structure were lost. 

4. When the initial 1983 historical preservation ordinance was passed the Star Hotel façade 
was 7 years old. 
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Attached you will find a grid-by-grid report detailing our findings along with photographs and 
above noted documentation.  We have also conducted a laser scan of the outside of the existing 
structure performed by JZW Architecture and have included a PDF version of that scan. 
 
We propose the following: 
 

1) Demolition: During demolition we will consider salvaging what brick can be reasonably 
salvaged from the chimney and include the chimney in any plans for a replacement 
building while using as much original brick as possible.  To be authentic it should be 
noted that we do not know that this chimney dates back to the historic period. 

2) 227 Main should be removed from the Historic Sites Inventory because: (a) It is not 50 
years old, (b) It has not retained its Historic Integrity and/or Historical Form, and (c), it is 
not significant in local, regional or national history, architecture, engineering, or culture.  
The lone exception to this is what possibly remains of the chimney which according to 
the Rixey Affidavit is “substantially” the same chimney as it was in 1975.  This can 
possibly be “reconstructed” using the dimensions on the laser scan noting that it is not 
known whether this chimney dates to the historically significant period. 

3) The architectural theme of the new building should be Victorian in order to blend into the 
Imperial and recently completed 205 project.  This is consistent with what existed in the 
1920’s which was a “Victorian Style… dwelling” according to the current Historic Site 
Form dated January 2015 (Section 4, paragraph 2). 

4) A plat amendment to remove the interior lot line. 
5) New Construction: We propose to utilize all existing space on this “zero-lot-line” 

property but keeping a light-and-air space between the Imperial and the new structure 
consistent with the space between the Imperial and the 205 Project.  The space on the 
north, west, and vertically we propose to fully utilize. 

 
In conclusion, it is our position that chimney is the only architectural feature that can possibly be 
recovered with any reasonable level of authenticity noting that it may not date back to the 
historically significant period.  We propose that a new structure be consistent with the 
historically significant period’s architectural style as defined by the January 2015 Historic Site 
Form, i.e. Victorian.  We propose that the 1976 non-historic structure should be removed for 
public safety, aesthetic, and historic authenticity reasons.   
 
We appreciate your consideration. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Todd Cusick 
Manager 
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“Non-Contributory” - April 1982
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Westlake Land, LLC  
Report 

Internal Demolition Photos and Findings 
Photos from July 1976 Construction of Façade at 

227 Main Street 
Park City, Utah 

 
 
Key to Cover Photo of Levels 1, 2, and 3, Photo of Level 4: 

 
Red Grids: Façade is divided into 12 grids for description grid by grid.  
Grid # is in upper-left corner of each grid. 

 
 
 

Blue: Rock Panels believed to be under stucco but inaccessible from 
inside 
 

 
Green: location of internal demolition photos (taken from inside building; 
photos A through O). 

 
   Yellow: location of photos illustrating 1976 construction of façade 
 
 
 

 
   Red Arrow: Chimney 
 
References: 
Rixey Affidavit, dated July 7, 2016 
Contractor Report and Photos, Josh Kaze, Goran, Project Manager, July 9, 2016 
Epic Engineering Report, Adam Huff P.E., dated January 23, 2014 
JZW Laser Scan, Peter Meuzelaar, partner, May 2016 
Historic Site Form – Utah State Historic Preservation Office, January 2015 
Photo: Park City Historical Society, Star Hotel – Treasure Mountain Inn 
Park City Survey Worksheet for Post 1930’s Structure dated February 1982 and April 1982 
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Grid #1 
 
It is possible that a triangular shape of historic gray rock exists under stucco in this grid.  The 
Rixey Affidavit suggests as much, however, it can only be accessed from the front.  The 
demolition contractor attempted to gain access to this panel but was unsuccessful as it cannot be 
done with complete demolition from the front side. 
 
Grid #2 
 
The historic structure contained a garage door in this grid.  The opening has been reframed and a 
man-door and side window has been framed into this grid.  The garage door opening could not 
be found.  Photo A documents the unsuccessful attempt by the demolition contractor to gain 
access to the rock panel is Grid #3. 
 
Grid #3 
 
Behind Grid #3, to the depth of approximately 7’-8’, a column of dry-stacked rocks have been 
covered by sheetrock.  The rocks contains no mortar and appear to be used as a “structural 
column” that supports the cross-beams holding up the internal span of the building.  After 
exposing this (see Photos A and B) the demolition contractor stopped work in this area.  This 
column makes it impossible to safely access the rock panel that may be under the stucco in Grid 
#3. 
 
Grid #4 
 
The historic structure contained a garage door in this grid.  Bill Rixey has stated (Not included in 
Rixey Affidavit) that the owner just prior to his family (Gardner) removed the garage doors but 
the garages remained behind these previous doors until his family cleaned out the garage space.  
This appears to be consistent with the 1960’s photo from the Park City Historical Society Photo 
as the garage doors and curb-cuts for entry can be clearly seen in this photo.  Sometime in the 
late 1960’s to early 1970’s these doors were removed.  This Grid contains a door and side 
window framed into the space previously occupied by the garage door but the former garage 
door opening cannot be found. 
 
Grid #5 
 
This Grid contains a rock-faced retaining wall.  The wall was placed after July of 1976 as Photo 
Q illustrates the absence of the rock in July of 1976.  This is consistent with the Park City 
Historical Society Photo as the 1960’s wall is different in material and visual dimensions than 
the current wall. 
 
Grid #6 
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This Grid is the first place explored for evidence of the former arches on the 2nd level.  You will 
see in Photo C that the vertical structural post of the former arch has been replaced by modern 
2”x6” framing.  The other side of the former arch shows the same 2”x6” framing in the location 
one would expect to find the vertical structural post if it still existed (see Photo D).  In Photo D 
you will note (3) modern 2”x6” vertical studs at the mid-point between the today’s south arch 
and middle arch. 
 
Grid #7 
 
Photo E is the location between the middle and north arches.  Here we find modern 2”x6” 
framing in the same configuration as in Photo D.  On the framing we have notes written by Mrs. 
Rixey (handwriting confirmed by Bill Rixey) which read:  

• “Remodeld by Charles Mast Construction Company of Salt Lake City for William R. 
Rixey – July 1976” 

• “Electrical work by Ricard Olsen – Park City” 
• “Inspected by Wayne Matthews” (former PCMC city manager) 
• “Glass by xxxxx” (illegible –water damaged) 

 
Grid #8 
 
Photo F is the inside of the northeast corner of the structure and shows modern 2”x6” framing 
along with two plumbing lines. 
 
Grid #9 
 
Photo G shows the southeast corner of the structure on the 3rd level.  It has modern 2”x6” 
framing, the board on which the stucco was applied in 1976, and some stucco entering into the 
framing from the outside.  Photos H and I are the header and north side of this same opening. 
 
Grid #10 
 
Photos J, K, and L are south, middle/header, and north respectively of this opening all showing 
modern 2”x6” framing and the backer board for the stucco. 
 
Grid #11 
 
Photos M, N, and O are south, middle/header, and north respectively of this opening all showing 
modern 2”x6” framing and the backer board for the stucco.  Photo P is from 1976 and shows the 
same framed opening and is consistent with the new construction noted in the Rixey Affidavit 
and April 1982 PCMC Worksheet labeling the structure as “new.” 
 
Grid #12 
 
This is level 4 which was added in 1977 (Rixey Affidavit and Epic Engineering report).  No 
internal demolition was performed on this level. 
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